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Introductory note
This country note presents the results of a survey undertaken in 2009 and 2010 of the
systems for regulatory management in the new member and accession countries and
other significant economies. The survey focused on 12 core regulatory governance
issues: regulatory policy, regulatory management and policy coherence, forward planning,
regulatory processes, access to regulation, consultation procedures with affected parties,
regulatory impact analysis (RIA), administrative simplification of licences and permits,
reduction and measurement of administrative burdens, central regulatory oversight
authority, ex-post review and evaluation, and number of regulations.
The OECD worked together with officials during the course of 2010 and 2011 to clarify
the responses to the survey questionnaire to ensure consistency in the interpretation of
questions across countries. The Secretariat used the information collected throughout
this process to draft the text of country notes which puts the data into context. While the
indicators reflect the regulatory situation at the end of 2009, the accompanying texts
include more recent developments. OECD averages are based on 2008 data published in
OECD (2009), Indicators of Regulatory Management Systems, OECD, Paris, accessible
at www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators.
This work was prepared by Christiane Arndt, Gregory Bounds, Emmanuel Job and
Helge Schröder. Laure Disario and Sara Kincaid provided editorial assistance. Jennifer
Stein was responsible for the text layout and editing. We would like to thank in particular
government officials and delegates for providing their time and the information used to
prepare this country note.

Note: This map is for illustrative purposes and is without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory covered by this map.
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1. Regulatory policy
Regulatory policy may be defined broadly as an explicit, dynamic, and consistent “whole-of-government”
policy to pursue high-quality regulation. A key part of the OECD 2005 Guiding Principles for Regulatory
Quality and Performance is that countries adopt broad programmes of regulatory reform that establish
principles of “good regulation”, as well as a framework for implementation. Experience across the OECD
suggests that an effective regulatory policy should be adopted at the highest political levels, contain explicit
and measurable regulatory quality standards, and provide for continued regulatory management capacity.
Among the first countries to adopt an explicit regulatory policy were the United States, where regulatory reform
was pioneered in the 1970s, and Canada, which developed its regulatory reform strategy in 1986. In 2008,
most OECD member countries had some form of published regulatory policy promoting regulatory reform.
The main motives for regulatory reform were reported to be “need to boost competitiveness and growth”,
“reduce administrative burdens” and, to a lesser extent, the “domestic policy agenda”. The groups lobbying or
supporting the regulatory reform agenda mostly consisted of small businesses, the government itself and,
to a lesser extent, international organisations as well as citizens (national opinion). The focus of regulatory
policies however differs across countries. For example, some countries concentrate on administrative burden
reduction while others have a more comprehensive approach.

Table 1.1. Regulatory policy
Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers
2008, %

Yes

Yes: 93.3

Yes

Yes: 96.6

No

Yes: 70

Yes

Yes: 83.3

Yes

Yes: 60

Yes

Yes: 93.3

No

Yes: 26.6

Government itself
Large businesses (or
their associations)
Small businesses (or
their associations)
Consumer
organisations
Citizens, national
opinion
International
Organisations
Welfare groups

Yes

Yes: 93.3

Yes

Yes: 90

No

Yes: 96.6

Yes

Yes: 43.3

Yes

Yes: 80

Yes

Yes: 83.3

No

Yes: 23.3

Environment groups

No

Yes: 23.3

Think tanks

Yes

Yes: 56.6

Other

No

Yes: 10

Groups lobbying for, or in favour of, the
regulatory reform agenda

Main motives for regulatory
reform

There is an explicit published
regulatory policy promoting
government-wide regulatory
reform or regulatory quality
improvement
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Need to boost
competitiveness and
growth
International
commitment
Domestic policy
agenda
Improve social welfare
Reduce the burden on
business
Other

Brazil reports that the Programme for the
Strengthening of the Institutional Capacity
for Regulatory Management (PRO-REG; see
www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/_Ato20072010/2007/Decreto/D6062.htm) serves as
a regulatory policy. The programme aims
to strengthen accountability, participation
of and monitoring by the civil society
and the coordination of regulatory policy.
Furthermore, PRO-REG is intended to
improve the quality of market regulation.
Brazil further reports that another task of PROREG, and its Management and Consultative
Committees, is to provide technical support
to regulatory bodies implementing the
programme and to develop best-practice
models for regulatory management.

Additional country notes and related publications are available at www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators

2. Regulatory management and policy coherence
The development and implementation of broad regulatory policies are essential to achieve key objectives such
as boosting economic development and consumer welfare by encouraging market entry, market openness,
innovation and competition. Achieving these goals requires links across all policy areas fostering policy
coherence. It is therefore necessary to ensure a well-functioning consultation with all concerned government
bodies when developing new regulations. In addition, promoting the adoption of international standards helps
to limit the proliferation of country-specific rules, improving the situation for businesses operating in foreign
markets.
In 2008, most OECD countries reported having a process of formal consultation within government on
competition, trade and consumer policies. However, only about a third of the countries had formal requirements
to consider international standards before setting new domestic standards and rules. Equally, only about a third
of the OECD countries required regulators to justify diverting from international standards.

Table 2.1. Consultation within Government
Brazil
answers 2009

OECD
answers 2008, %

Formal processes for consultation
Exist when preparing
new primary laws

In some cases

Always: 80
In some cases: 20

Exist when preparing
new subordinate
regulations

In some cases

Always: 76.6
In some cases: 20
No:3.3

Bodies usually consulted on new regulation
Body responsible for
competition policy

In some cases

Body responsible for
trade policy

In some cases

Body responsible for
consumer policy

In some cases

Always: 80
In some cases: 17
No: 3
Always: 73.3
In some cases: 23.3
No: 3.3
Always: 73.3
In some cases: 26.6

Brazil reports having formal processes
for consultation within government
only in some cases when preparing
new regulation. One regulatory agency,
ANVISA1 has a formal requirement to
consider comparable international
standards; ANAC2 is reported to
do so in practice. Deviations from
international standards do not have to
be explained.
Brazil further reports that certain sectors
follow international standards, many
of them set by MERCOSUR (Southern
Common Market).

Table 2.2 Provisions to promote the adoption of
international standards and rules

Formal requirement
that regulators
consider comparable
international standards
and rules before
setting new domestic
standards
Regulators required to
explain the rationale
for diverting from
international standards
when country specific
rules are proposed

Brazil
answers 2009

OECD
answers 2008, %

In some cases

Always: 36.6
In some cases: 36.6
No: 26.6

No

Always: 36.6
In some cases: 33.3
No: 30

1. ANVISA (National Agency of Sanitary
Surveillance – www.anvisa.gov.br)
2. ANAC (National Civil Aviation Agency –
www.anac.gov.br)
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3. Clarity and due process in decision-making
procedures: Forward planning
An important element of clarity and due process in rulemaking is informing citizens and businesses of
current and future regulatory developments, so that stakeholders can anticipate potential changes, prepare
for consultation and highlight potentially adverse effects. An efficient way of forward planning is to periodically
publish a list of regulations to be prepared, modified or repealed in the upcoming months. This document
should be easily accessible and therefore available online.
In 2008, 20 OECD countries and the EU reported making a list of primary laws to be prepared, modified
or repealed in the next six months or more, and be uploaded online. Only 14 countries, including the EU,
reported having such a list for subordinate regulations.

Table 3.1. Forward planning

4

Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers
2008, %

Periodical publication of a
list of primary laws to be
prepared, modified, reformed
or repealed in the next six
months or more

No

Yes: 66.6

It is available to the public
via the internet to ensure its
publicity

No

Yes: 66.6

Periodical publication of a list
of subordinate regulations
to be prepared, modified,
reformed or repealed in the
next six months or more

No

Yes: 43.3

It is available to the public
via the internet to ensure its
publicity

No

Yes: 43.3

The Brazilian government does not publish
a list of primary laws or subordinate
regulations to be prepared, modified,
reformed or repealed in the near future.
Some regulatory agencies do publish such
lists, but only for their respective sector.
For example, ANVISA1 publishes its annual
regulatory agenda (2011 planning available
at www.in.gov.br/visualiza/index.jsp?data=1
8/02/2011&jornal=1&pagina=88&totalArquiv
os=232).

1. ANVISA (National Agency of Sanitary Surveillance –
www.anvisa.gov.br).

Additional country notes and related publications are available at www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators

4. Regulatory processes
Formalised processes for the development of regulations improve the quality of regulation and control
excessive administrative discretion. Predictable and systematic procedures also contribute to regulatory
transparency. External scrutiny is necessary to ensure compliance with standard procedures by all regulators
and ministries and to guarantee the quality of draft regulatory proposals. In most countries, the Council of
State or the Ministry of Justice check the legal quality of proposals and its compatibility with the constitution
and existing law. In addition, a number of countries have given responsibility to regulatory agencies, oversight
bodies or specific ministries to check the consistency of draft regulations with overall government directions
and with established procedures and consultation requirements, including in some cases checking the quality
of the underlying impact analysis.
In 2008, all OECD countries reported some form of standard administrative procedures for drafting primary
laws and all but one had standard administrative procedures for new subordinate regulations. Almost all
countries had some form of external scrutiny for draft primary laws.

Subordinate regulations

Primary laws

Table 4.1. Regulatory processes
Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers
2008, %

There are standard
procedures by which the
administration develops
draft primary laws

Yes

Yes: 100

Draft primary laws are to
be scrutinised by a specific
body within Government
other than the department
which is responsible for the
regulation

Yes

Yes: 93.3

There are standard
procedures by which the
administration develops
draft subordinate
regulations

No

Yes: 96.6

Brazil reports having government-wide
standard procedures for developing
primary laws. The Civil House of the
Presidency of the Republic is responsible
for co-ordinating the discussion of draft
primary laws. Procedures for developing
subordinate regulations differ across
ministries and agencies and thus across
policy areas. There are standard procedures
for presidential decrees, which have the
same status as subordinate regulations.
Brazil further reports that the standard
procedures for primary laws stem from the
Complementary Law 95/98 (www.planalto.
gov.br/ccivil_03/Leis/LCP/Lcp95.htm)
and
the Decree 4 176/02 (www.planalto.gov.
br/ccivil_03/decreto/2002/D4176.htm). The
Decree 4 176 also establishes the standard
procedures for presidential decrees.
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5. Access to regulation
Transparency is one of the central pillars of effective regulation, supporting accountability, sustaining
confidence in the legal environment, making regulations more secure and accessible, less influenced by
special interests, and therefore more open to competition, trade and investment. One important element
of transparency is access to regulation, i.e. how easy is it for citizens and businesses to find and receive
relevant regulation, but also to understand it. Facilitating access to regulation therefore involves a range of
actions such as codification, publication of regulations, and plain language drafting.
Public access to the text of regulations within OECD countries improved significantly between 1998 and
2005, and further slightly improved from 2005-08, mainly as a result of making laws publicly accessible via
the Internet. Progress has also been observed in other areas. For example, over two thirds of the countries
reported procedures for codifying primary laws, and had a general policy requiring “plain language” drafting
and provided corresponding guidance. However, only half of the countries had provisions that only subordinate
regulations in the registry are enforceable.

Primary laws

Table 5.1. Access to regulation

Codification
There is a
mechanism for
regular updating of
the codes or codified
laws (at least yearly
basis)

Subordinate regulations

Public access via the
Internet to the text

6

Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers
2008, %

Yes

Yes: 86.6

No

Yes: 66.6

Yes

Yes: 100

Only subordinate
regulations published
in a consolidated
register are
enforceable

No

Yes: 50

Public access via the
Internet to the text

No

Yes: 100

The general public can access the text of
Brazilian primary laws online. The text of
subordinate regulations is only available
from 1990 onwards via the Internet; to access
older subordinate regulations, it is necessary
to apply and conduct research at the Centre
of Documentation of the Official Gazette. An
increasing number of subordinate regulations
are being posted on the Internet. The aim
is to have online access to all of them. Until
then, it is also possible to access the text of
subordinate regulations through the websites
of individual regulatory agencies.
The text of primary laws can be accessed free
of charge at www.presidencia.gov.br/legislacao.
Brazil reports that the text of primary and bills can
also be accessed at www6.senado.gov/br/sicon
since 1997. Subordinate regulations since 1990
can be accessed at http://portal.in.gov.br, also
free of charge.
Brazil uses codification, but not systematically.

A general policy requiring
plain language drafting of
regulation

Yes

Yes: 90

Guidance on plain
language drafting is issued

Yes

Yes: 80

Brazil reports that the Complementary Law 95/98
(www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/Leis/LCP/Lcp95.
htm) and the Decree 4176/02 (www.planalto.gov.
br/ccivil_03/decreto/2002/D4176.htm)
contain
plain language requirements. The second version
of the Presidency Writing Manual, approved by
Ordinance 91/02 (www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/
Portaria/P91-02.htm), offers guidance on plain
language drafting.

Additional country notes and related publications are available at www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators

Figure 5.1. Access to regulation
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0

Brazil
OECD

Note: This figure summarises information on the existence
of systematic policies to make regulations accessible to the
public in Brazil (2009) compared with the OECD average
in 2008. It does not gauge whether these policies have
been effective. Detailed questions and an explanation
of the scale and weights are available in OECD (2009),
Indicators of Regulatory Management Systems,
pp. 146‑147. Data for OECD countries are also available
in OECD (2009), p. 105. The report can be accessed at
www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators.
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6. Consultation procedures with affected parties
Participation of stakeholders in the regulatory process ensures that feedback about the design and effects
of regulation is taken into account when preparing new regulations. It increases the likelihood of compliance
by building legitimacy in regulatory proposals and may therefore improve the effect of regulations and reduce
the costs of enforcement. Hence, formalised consultation processes are an important feature of regulatory
transparency, and key in strengthening regulatory management systems.
In 2008, all OECD members and the EU had public consultation procedures as part of developing new primary
laws and subordinate regulations. However, the consultation processes differed widely across countries with
respect to formal requirements and to the types of consultation used. In general, there appears to be room
for improvement concerning requirements to respond to consultation comments and to monitor consultation
processes. Both can be effective tools to improve the quality of consultation practices.

Requirements
for consultations

Forms of public consultations
routinely used

Public
consultation
with parties
affected by
regulations is

Table 6.1. Consultation procedures with affected parties:
Primary laws
Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers 2008,
%

In some
cases

Always: 73.3
In some cases:
26.6

Mandatory

No

Yes: 80

Informal consultation with
selected groups

Yes

Yes: 96.6

Broad circulation of
proposals for comment

No

Yes: 86.6

Public notice and calling for
comment

Yes

Yes: 66.6

Public meeting

Yes

Yes: 66.6

Simply posting proposals on
the internet

No

Yes: 86.6

Advisory group

Yes

Yes: 86.6

Preparatory public
commission/committee

Yes

Yes: 73.3

Other

No

Yes: 20

Any member of the public
can choose to participate in
the consultation

No

Yes: 70

Minimum period for allowing
consultation comments
inside government when
developing draft regulation

No

2-4 weeks
(average for 14
countries reporting
minimum periods)

Minimum period for allowing
consultation comments by
the public when developing
draft regulation

No

4-6 weeks
(average of 18
countries reporting
minimum periods)

No

Yes: 70

No

Yes: 13.3

No

Yes: 76.6

No

Yes: 20

Part of developing new draft
primary laws

The views of participants in the consultation
process are made public
Regulators are required to respond in writing
to the authors of consultation comments
The views expressed in the consultation
process are included in the regulatory impact
analysis
There is a process to monitor the quality of the
consultation process
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Brazil reports that public consultation
is not mandatory for primary laws and
that only four regulatory agencies
(ANAC, ANEEL, ANTAQ and ANTT)1
are required to consult with the
public when developing subordinate
regulations. In the absence of official
statistics, the government estimates
that consultation open to any member
of the public occurs for about 50 – 75%
of both draft primary laws and draft
subordinate regulations. In addition,
the Senate and the Congress usually
hold public hearings open to all
members of the public. While there is
no government-wide minimum period
for allowing consultation comments,
nor a general obligation to make
participants’ views public, certain
regulatory agencies have developed
internal rules or practices. Regulators
are not required to respond to
consultation comments.
Brazil further reports that informal
consultation with selected groups and
public meetings are being routinely
used for draft primary laws. Broad
consultation of proposals for comment
and posting proposals on the internet is
used for important or controversial draft
primary laws. Since each regulatory
agency has its own procedures, various
types of public consultation are used for
subordinate regulations.

1. ANAC: National Civil Aviation Agency
(www.anac.gov.br), ANEEL: National Electric
Energy Agency (www.aneel.gov.br), ANTAQ:
National Water Transport Agency
(www.antaq.gov.br) and ANTT: National
Land Transport Agency (www.antt.gov.br)

Additional country notes and related publications are available at www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators

Requirements for consultations

Forms of public consultations
routinely used

Public
consultation with
parties affected
by regulations is

Table 6.2. Consultation procedures with affected parties:
Subordinate laws
Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers
2008, %

In some
cases

Always: 66.6
In some
cases: 33.3

No

Yes: 76.6

Yes

Yes: 93.3

Yes

Yes: 86.6

Yes

Yes: 56.6

Yes

Yes: 53.3

Simply posting proposals on
the internet

Yes

Yes: 76.6

Advisory group

Yes

Yes: 76.6

Preparatory public
commission/committee

Yes

Yes: 66.6

Other

No

Yes: 20

Any member of the public
can choose to participate in
the consultation

No

Yes: 56.6

No

2-4 weeks
(average of
14 countries
reporting
minimum
periods)

Part of developing new draft
subordinate regulations
Mandatory
Informal consultation with
selected groups
Broad circulation of
proposals for comment
Public notice and calling for
comment
Public meeting

Minimum period for allowing
consultation comments
inside government when
developing draft regulation

Minimum period for allowing
consultation comments by
the public when developing
draft regulation

The views of participants in the consultation
process are made public
Regulators are required to respond in
writing to the authors of consultation
comments
The views expressed in the consultation
process are included in the regulatory
impact analysis
There is a process to monitor the quality of
the consultation process

Public consultation for draft primary laws
and subordinate regulations is purportedly
required in specific areas (e.g. bills in the
oil sector that affect the general public).
Additionally, several regulatory agencies, for
example the National Telecommunication
Agency (ANATEL), have to conduct public
consultations if new regulations affect their
customers.
Brazil further reports that the Project
of Law 3337/2004 would, if adopted by
Parliament, introduce a formal requirement
to incorporate public consultation into the
development of subordinate regulation.
While there are no formal rules, minimum
periods for allowing consultation comments by
the public for draft primary laws are reported
to usually last 30 days. They vary from five
(ANAC) to 30 days (ANVISA, ANTT) across
regulatory agencies for draft subordinate
regulations.
ANVISA, ANATEL1 and ANTAQ make
consultation comments publicly available on
the internet. So does ANCINE,2 but only for
registered users.
1.

ANVISA:
National
Agency
of
Surveillance
(www.anvisa.gov.br)
ANATEL:
National
Telecommunications

Sanitary
and
Agency

(www.anatel.gov.br).

2. ANCINE: National Cinema Agency (www.ancine.gov.br).

No

4-6 weeks
(average of
19 countries
reporting
minimum
periods)

No

Yes: 63.3

No

Yes: 16.6

No

Yes: 66.6

No

Yes: 20

Figure 6.1. Formal and open
consultation processes
Brazil

OECD average

6
5
4
3
2
1
0

Primary laws

Subordinate
regulations

Note: This figure summarises information
on the existence of key elements of formal
consultation processes in Brazil (2009)
compared with the OECD average in 2008.
It does not gauge whether these processes
have been effective. Detailed questions and
an explanation of the scale and weights
are available in OECD (2009), Indicators
of Regulatory Management Systems,
pp. 47‑148. The figure has been split into
primary laws and subordinate regulations.
Data for OECD countries are also available
in OECD (2009), pp. 110-111. The report can
be accessed at www.oecd.org/regreform/
indicators.
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7. Regulatory Impact Analysis
Regulatory impact analysis (RIA) is a key policy tool that can provide decision makers with detailed information
about the potential effects of regulatory measures on the economy, environment and society. A full RIA looks at
all possible impacts of regulation, taking into account costs and benefits. It assesses the capacity of government
agencies to enforce regulation and the capacity of affected parties to comply with those. RIA processes should also
include an ex post evaluation of whether regulations are functioning as expected.
RIA can assist decision makers to examine the implications of regulatory policy options and determine whether
they will achieve their objectives more efficiently and effectively than alternative approaches. In addition, by
strengthening the transparency of regulatory decisions and their justification, RIA may bolster the credibility of
regulatory responses and increase public trust in regulatory institutions and policy makers.
Adoption of the use of RIA by OECD members has been rapid, especially between 1994 and 2002. Today, all
member countries report having adopted procedures to assess the impact of at least some new regulations.
Over the last decade, RIA systems have become more comprehensive across most countries. An increasing
number of countries have adopted formal requirements to undertake RIA for draft primary laws and subordinate
regulations, as well as formal requirements to identify impacts (including costs and benefits of new regulations).
However, in 2008, only about half of the OECD countries reported a systematic requirement to quantify the
corresponding costs and benefits for new regulatory proposals.

Table 7.1. Use and requirements of RIA

Regulators

RIA is required

Regulatory impact analysis
(RIA) is carried out before
new regulation is adopted

10

Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers 2008, %

No

Always: 53.3
In some cases: 46.6

By law or by a
similarly strictly
binding administrative
instrument*

No

For draft primary laws

No

For draft subordinate
regulations

No

Are required to identify
the costs of new
regulation

No

Impact analysis is
required to include the
quantification of the costs

No

Are required to identify
the benefits of new
regulation

No

Always: 73.3
Only for major regulations: 10
In other selected cases: 16.6

No

Always: 26.6
Only for major regulations: 23.3
In other selected cases: 40
No: 10

Are required to
demonstrate that the
benefits of new regulation
justify the costs

No

Always: 36.6
Only for major regulations: 10
In other selected cases: 23.3
No: 30

RIA documents
are required to be
publicly released for
consultation with the
general public

No

Always: 43.3
Only for major regulations: 6.6
In other selected cases: 10
No: 40

Impact analysis is
required to include
quantification of the
benefits

Always: 60
Only for major regulations: 23.3
In other selected cases: 10
No: 6.6
Always: 70
Only for major regulations: 16.6
In other selected cases: 10
No: 3.3
Always: 50
Only for major regulations: 36.6
In other selected cases: 6.6
No: 6.6
Always: 70
Only for major regulations: 23.3
In other selected cases: 6.6
Always: 46.6
Only for major regulations: 30
In other selected cases: 20
No: 3.3

Regulatory impact analysis is not
required in Brazil. However, the
Programme for the Strengthening
of
the
Institutional
Capacity
for
Regulatory
Management
(PRO-REG) has developed a plan to
gradually introduce RIA.
Brazil reports that PRO-REG has
supported research on developing
a RIA system suited to the Brazilian
institutional framework. PRO-REG has
also organised RIA training for civil
servants. In addition, Brazil has signed
an agreement of co-operation with the
United Kingdom on RIA: The British
Better Regulation Executive (BRE)
and PRO-REG will share experiences
in regulation management, with
particular emphasis on RIA.
Some ministries and government
institutions
already
undertake
some form of impact analysis when
introducing or modifying regulation,
but in an incomplete way and without
systemic application.

* If the administration is able to evade the
requirement, it will be considered as not
strictly binding.

Additional country notes and related publications are available at www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators

Requirements for risk assessment

RIA is required to include assessments of other specific impacts

Table 7.2. Extent of RIA and risk assessment
Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers 2008, %

Impacts on the budget

No

Always: 80
Only for major regulations: 6.6
In other selected cases: 3.3
No: 10

Impacts on
competition

No

Always: 63.3
Only for major regulations: 10
In other selected cases: 20
No: 6.6

No

Always: 53.3
Only for major regulations: 10
In other selected cases: 26.6
No: 10

No

Always: 70
Only for major regulations: 10
In other selected cases: 13.3
No: 6.6

No

Always: 36.6
Only for major regulations: 13.3
In other selected cases: 26.6
No: 23.3

No

Always: 46.6
Only for major regulations: 16.6
In other selected cases: 26.6
No: 10

Impact on other
groups (not for profit
sector including
charities)

No

Always: 36.6
Only for major regulations: 6.6
In other selected cases: 26.6
No: 30

Impact on the public
sector

No

Always: 73.3
Only for major regulations: 13.3
In other selected cases: 13.3

Impact on gender
equality

No

Always: 43.3
Only for major regulations: 13.3
In other selected cases: 16.6
No: 26.6

Impact on poverty

No

Always: 23.3
Only for major regulations: 6.6
In other selected cases: 30
No: 40

For all regulation

No

Always: 6.6
Only for major regulations: 10
In other selected cases: 40
No: 43.3

For Health and safety
regulation

No

Always: 10
Only for major regulations: 23.3
In other selected cases: 30
No: 36.6

For Environmental
regulation

No

Always: 13.3
Only for major regulations: 23.3
In other selected cases: 26.6
No: 36.6

Impacts on market
openness

Impacts on small
businesses

Impact on specific
regional areas
Impact on specific
social groups
(distributional effects
across society)
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Table 7.3. Quality control of RIA
Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers 2008, %

Reports are prepared on
the level of compliance
with the above
requirements of RIA

No

Regularly: 16.6
Ad hoc basis: 33.3
No: 50

These reports are
published

No

Yes: 33.3

Government body outside
the ministry responsible
for reviewing the quality
of the RIA

No

Yes: 76.6

Figure 7.1. Overall RIA processes
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0

Brazil
OECD average

Note: This figure summarises information on the existence
of key elements of RIA processes in Brazil (2009) compared
with the OECD average in 2008. It does not gauge whether
these processes have been effective. Detailed questions
and an explanation of the scale and weights are available in
Jacobzone, S. et al (2007), “Regulatory Management Systems
Across OECD Countries”, OECD Working Papers on Public
Governance, No. 9, p. 28. Data for OECD countries is available
in OECD (2009), Indicators of Regulatory Management
Systems, pp. 112-116. The report can be accessed at
www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators.
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8. Administrative simplification: Licences and permits
Licences and permits are useful regulatory tools to ensure levels of service quality, counter market failures or
to allocate scarce resources. However, unnecessary use of licences has a serious economic negative potential
as it raises real and perceived barriers to new start-ups, and thus detracts from innovation and anti-competitive
effects. The latter may arise because incumbent firms have strong incentives to lobby regulators to use licensing
arrangements as a means to protect themselves from new entrants. Permits, too, can increase costs and mu
ltiply barriers for businesses due to time and money required for compliance. Therefore, to reduce the burden
on businesses, many governments aim to narrow the number of licences and permits, as well as facilitate the
application and issuing process (e.g. via the establishment of one-stop shops)
In 2008, half of the then 30 OECD member countries used the “silence is consent” rule, which implies that
licences are issued automatically if the competent licensing office has not reacted by the end of the statutory
response period. Most countries (17) reported using “one-stop shops” to receive information on licences and
notifications compared with 4 countries en years earlier. Eighteen countries had a programme underway to
review and reduce the number of licences and permits required by the national government; nine had both
undertaken a complete count of the number of licences and permits, and had a programme underway to review
and reduce their number.

Table 8.1. Facilitating licences and
permits, one-stop shops
Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers
2008, %

“Silence is consent” rule is used

No

Yes: 50

Administrations have to provide the
name of the person responsible for
handling the application in any formal
correspondence

Yes

Yes: 53.3

There are single contact points
(“one-stop shops”) for getting
information on licences and notifications

Yes

Yes: 93.3

There are single contact points for
accepting notifications and issuing
licences (one-stop shops)

Yes

Yes: 56.6

There is a programme underway to
review and reduce the number of
licenses and permits required by the
national government

No

Yes: 60

There is a complete count of the number
of permits and licenses required by the
national government

No

Yes: 36.6

There has been a decline in the
aggregate number of licences and
permits

No

Yes: 36.6

There is a programme underway to
co-ordinate the review and reform of
permits and licences at sub-national
levels of government

No

Yes: 50

Brazil operates one-stop shops at the state
level in terms of providing information and in
issuing licences and accepting notifications.
The “silence is consent” rule is not applied
government-wide, but some regulatory
agencies make use of these tools. There
is no programme to count or to reduce the
number of required licences and permits.
One-stop shops have purportedly been
established in Sao Paulo, Rio de Janeiro, Bahia,
Rio Grande do Sul and in the Federal District
(www.facil.dnrc.gov.br).
Brazil reports that three regulatory agencies
(ANCINE, ANTAQ and ANTT)1
provide
information on licences and notifications via
sector-wide one-stop shops. One agency,
CADE,2 applies the “silence is consent” rule
with a statutory response period of eight weeks
for antitrust regulations.

1. ANCINE: National Cinema Agency (www.ancine.gov.br),
ANTAQ: National Water Transport Agency
(www.antaq.gov.br) and ANTT: National Land Transport
Agency (www.antt.gov.br).
2. CADE: Antitrust Administrative Council
(www.cade.gov.br).
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Figure 8.1. Facilitating licences and permits,
one-stop shops
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Note: This figure summarises information on the existence
of key elements for administrative simplification programmes
in Brazil (2009) compared with the OECD average in 2008.
It does not gauge whether these programmes have been
effective. Detailed questions and an explanation of the scale and
weights are available in OECD (2009), Indicators of Regulatory
Management Systems, p. 159. Data for OECD countries is also
available at OECD (2009), p. 117. The report can be accessed at
www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators.
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9. Reduction and measurement of administrative burdens
Measuring and then reducing administrative burdens is directed at improving the cost-efficiency of administrative
regulations in order to reduce the burden on citizens, businesses, the non-profit sector and/or the public sector.
Quantifying burdens also helps to sustain political momentum for regulatory reform. Burden measurement has
been improved with the application by a growing number of countries of the Standard Cost Model (SCM) method
to measure the burden of information obligations imposed by laws. This allows the setting of not only qualitative
but also quantitative targets for burden reduction programmes, which can involve a variety of different strategies.
In 2008, 70% of the OECD countries had completed burden measurements, focusing mostly on businesses.
All but one country reported having a programme to reduce administrative burdens imposed by government
on enterprises and/or citizens. The number of countries with targets for their reduction programmes increased
significantly over the last years. In 2005, only 10 jurisdictions had quantitative targets and 14 countries had
qualitative targets in their programme. In 2008, 21 jurisdictions reported having quantitative targets and 21
jurisdictions reported having qualitative targets. Fifteen jurisdictions reported having both types of targets.

Table 9.1. Reduction of administrative burdens
Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers
2008, %

There is an explicit
government programme to
reduce the administrative
burdens imposed by
government on enterprises
and/or citizens

Yes

Yes: 96.6

This programme includes
quantitative targets

No

Yes: 66.6

This programme includes
qualitative targets

No

Yes: 66.6

Removal of obligations

Yes

Yes: 86.6

Modification and streamlining
of existing laws and
regulations

No

Yes: 93.3

Information and
communication technologies
for regulatory administration

Yes

Yes: 96.6

Other streamlining of
government administrative
procedures

Yes

Yes: 80

Reallocating powers and
responsibilities between
government departments
and/or between levels of
government

Yes

Yes: 60

Programme

Strategies used

Brazil reports that several programmes
to
reduce
administrative
burdens
have been implemented since 1979.
In 2005, the government launched the
most recent programme, the National
Programme
of
Public
Management
and Debureaucratization. No burden
measurement has been undertaken.
Purportedly, the National Programme of
Public Management and Debureaucratization
is led by a Steering Committee composed of
representatives of the Ministry of Planning,
Management and Budget, of the Office of the
Chief of Staff and of other government bodies.
The civil society is also represented.
ANCINE1 reports that it is currently developing
a set of initiatives to reduce administrative
burdens. To this respect, the agency has
established a working group on simplification
of administrative processes and launched the
Administrative Simplification Project (SAD).

1. ANCINE: National Cinema Agency (www.ancine.gov.br).
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Table 9.2. Measurement of administrative burdens

Measurement of
administrative burdens
has been completed
Groups targeted
Citizens
Businesses
The public sector
Non-profit sector

Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers
2008, %

No

Yes: 70

No
No
No
No

Yes: 30
Yes: 86.6
Yes: 23.3
Yes: 16.6

No

Yes: 53.3

No

Yes: 36.6

No

Yes: 26.6

Methodology used
Standard Cost Model
(SCM)
Adapted or modified
version from the
Standard Cost Model
Other

Figure 9.1. Explicit programme for reducing
administrative burdens
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Note: This figure summarises information on the existence
of key elements for administrative burden reduction
programmes in Brazil (2009) compared with the OECD
average in 2008. It does not gauge whether these
programmes have been effective. Detailed questions and
an explanation of the scale and weights are available in
OECD (2009), Indicators of Regulatory Management
Systems, pp. 156-157. Data for OECD countries is also
available in OECD (2009), p. 118 and 121. The report can
be accessed at www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators.
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10. Central regulatory oversight authority
(administrative and political)
Appropriate regulatory institutions are a key element for the delivery of regulatory policy and to ensure the quality of
regulation. An important feature of these institutional arrangements is the existence of regulatory oversight bodies,
usually located at a focal point within the government administration, with a broad remit to advocate for regulatory
quality. The functions of these bodies include assisting regulators in implementing elements of regulatory policy,
undertaking quality control in areas such as RIA and administrative simplification and ensuring compliance with and
reporting on overall performance in achieving regulatory policy objectives. Regulatory reform depends upon strong
political leadership. Designating portfolio responsibilities for monitoring and reporting on progress in regulatory
reform to a specific minister is one means by which OECD governments provide political leadership.
Over the last decade, significant reforms have been undertaken in most OECD countries to empower regulatory
oversight bodies. In 2008, it was reported that most bodies in charge of promoting regulatory reform are consulted
when new regulations are developed. The number of bodies that report on progress by individual ministries almost
doubled since 1998. However, the authority to conduct their own analysis of regulatory impacts remained limited to
about half of the regulatory oversight bodies. Around half of the OECD countries made use of an external advisory
body with reference from government to review broad areas of regulation. Such bodies have the advantages of bringing
an independent view and a store of acquired regulatory policy expertise to the review process and are often powerful
agents to support reform. Accordingly, this suggests that there remains some room for further progress across OECD.

Table 10.1. Central regulatory oversight authority
(administrative and political)
Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers
2008, %

There is a dedicated body (or bodies)
responsible for promoting the regulatory
policy and monitoring and reporting on
regulatory reform and regulatory quality

No

Yes: 96.6

This body is consulted as part of the
process of developing new regulation

No

Yes: 86.6

This body reports on progress made on
reform by individual ministries

No

Yes: 63.3

This body is entrusted with the authority
of reviewing and monitoring regulatory
impacts conducted in individual ministries

No

Yes: 56.6

This body can conduct its own analysis of
regulatory impacts

No

Yes: 53.3

No

Yes: 83.3

No

Yes: 43.3

This body has a degree of independence
from government

No

Yes: 36.6

This body reports its findings publicly

No

Yes: 43.3

No

Yes: 86.6

No

Yes: 46.6

This body is entrusted with an advocacy
function to promote regulatory quality and
reform
There is an advisory body that receives
references from Government to review
broad areas of regulation, collecting the
views of private stakeholders

A specific minister is accountable for
promoting government-wide progress on
regulatory reform
The Minister is required to report to
Parliament on progress

Brazil has no central regulatory
oversight body. The Programme for
the Strengthening of the Institutional
Capacity for Regulatory Management
(PRO-REG) envisages the conception
and set-up of a unit of co-ordination,
monitoring and evaluation of regulatory
processes in the executive branch.
However, it has not been implemented yet.
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Figure 10.1. Institutional capacity for managing
regulatory reform
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Note: This figure summarises information on the existence
of key elements of institutional settings for managing
regulatory reform in Brazil (2009) compared with the
OECD average in 2008. It does not gauge whether these
institutions have been effective. Detailed questions and an
explanation of the scale and weights are available in OECD
(2009), Indicators of Regulatory Management Systems,
p. 145. Data for OECD countries are also available at
OECD (2009), p. 123. The report can be accessed at
www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators.
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11. Ex post regulatory review and evaluation
Regulations can become obsolete over time, producing undesired side effects, and may no longer be the most
efficient way of achieving the desired policy objectives. Systematic evaluation helps ensure that the policy aims
of regulations are met, while maximising benefits and minimising costs. It is essential to evidence-based and
accountable policy making. The benefits from systematic regulatory reviews are likely to be most apparent in
sectors or areas where change is most rapid. The increasing inclusion of mandated review provisions in primary
laws may reflect the rapidly changing legal and economic environment of industries such as communications
and information technology (IT).
In some OECD countries, such as France and Italy, these reviews are also associated with the tradition of
codification, where codification is also used as a tool for simplification, going beyond the mere consolidation
of existing sets of rules. The number of countries adopting mechanisms for regulatory review and evaluation
has evolved significantly over the last decade. In particular, most OECD member countries report now having
mandatory periodical evaluation of existing regulation, automatic review requirements for specific primary laws
and mechanisms by which the public can make recommendations to modify existing regulations. Sunsetting
clauses, resulting in the automatic expiry of an act, are less popular, though still growing.

Table 11.1. Ex post regulatory review and evaluation

Periodic ex post evaluation
of existing regulation is
mandatory

Brazil
answers
2009

OECD
answers 2008, %

Not
required

For all policy areas: 20
For specific areas: 60
Not required: 20

No

Yes: 36.6

Reviews are required to
consider explicitly the
consistency of regulations in
different areas and take steps
to address areas of overlap/
duplication/
inconsistency

No

Yes: 46.6

There are
mechanisms
by which the
public can make
recommendations
to modify specific
regulations

Yes

Yes: 93.3

Electronic
mailboxes

Yes

Yes: 73.3

Ombudsman

Yes

Yes: 56.6

Sunsetting is used for primary
laws or other regulations

No

Yes: 43.3

Specific primary laws
include automatic review
requirements

No

Yes: 70

Mechanisms to recommend
modifications

There are standardised
evaluation techniques or
criteria to be used when
regulation is reviewed

Ex post evaluation of regulation is
not required. Brazil reports that the
public can make recommendations
to modify specific regulations
through electronic mailboxes and
Ombudsmen.
Brazil reports that most regulatory
agencies offer the services of an
Ombudsman,
which
usually
is
associated with the use of an electronic
mailbox. Only ANAC1
separates
these mechanisms: The Ombudsman
deals with complaints emanating from
consumers and from the regulated
sector regarding the agency’s services.
The electronic mailbox is used in the
case of complaints from consumers
about the regulated sector.

1. ANAC: National
(www.anac.gov.br).
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12. Number of new regulations
Changes in the number of new primary laws and subordinate regulations are a subject of policy debates on how
to measure regulatory inflation and increasing regulatory burdens. In some respect, limiting the proliferation
of regulation can be regarded as an accompanying measure to administrative simplification attempts. While
measuring the number of legislative instruments may be helpful, there are limitations to comparing countries with
different organisational structures and law-making traditions. Given these inherent limitations, an OECD average
would be misleading and is therefore not presented.

Table 12.1. Number of new regulations

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009

20

Number of new
laws at the national/
federal level

Number of new
subordinate
regulations
(decrees, others)

240
240
198
253
179
181
202
260
295

1 568
2 180
2 085
2 478
2 329
2 080
2 311
2 178
2 085

The number of new laws at the national level
comprises all ordinary and complementary
laws.
All
provisional
measures,
numerated
decrees and resolutions are subsumed
under subordinate regulations. Normative
instructions, security norms and other
technical rules of regulatory agencies are not
included.

Additional country notes and related publications are available at www.oecd.org/regreform/indicators

